Faculty of Arts and Humanities

Plymouth Business School

2016-06

# Competitiveness in a Multipolar Port System: Striving for Regional Gateway Status in Northeast Asia

Kim, S

http://hdl.handle.net/10026.1/5039

10.1016/j.ajsl.2016.05.005 The Asian Journal of Shipping and Logistics Elsevier BV

All content in PEARL is protected by copyright law. Author manuscripts are made available in accordance with publisher policies. Please cite only the published version using the details provided on the item record or document. In the absence of an open licence (e.g. Creative Commons), permissions for further reuse of content should be sought from the publisher or author.

This is an Accepted Manuscript of an article published by Elsevier in The Asian Journal of Shipping and Logistics, June 2016 available at: doi:10.1016/j.ajsl.2016.05.005

## Competitiveness in a Multipolar Port System: Striving for

# **Regional Gateway Status in Northeast Asia**

#### Authors

First Author:

Sihyun Kim, Lecturer in Gyeongsang National University, South Korea, Email: <u>bud1111@nate.com</u> (Former: Plymouth University)

Second Author:

Dalwon Kang, Guest Professor in Korea Maritime and Ocean University, Email: <u>kangdw@kmou.ac.kr</u>

Corresponding author:

John Dinwoodie, Professor in Plymouth University, United Kingdom, Email: <u>jdinwoodie@plymouth.ac.uk</u>

#### Contents

I.	Introduction	3
II.	Literature Review	3
	2.1 Competition between hub ports seeking regional gateway status in Northeast Asia	3
	2.2 Determinants of competitiveness required to become a regional gateway port	5
III.	Research Method	8
	3.1 Overview of research design	8
	3.2 Data collection	8
	3.3 Assessing non-response bias and common method bias	8
IV.	Data Analysis and Results	9
	4.1 Results of factor analysis	9
	4.2 Comparison among the target ports	11
V.	Implications and Conclusions	12
	5.1 Implications	12
	5.2 Limitations and suggestions for future research	13
VI.		
	References	.11
4		
VII.	Supplementary Data (Tables/Figures)	18

# Competitiveness in a Multipolar Port System: Striving for Regional Gateway Status in Northeast Asia

#### Abstract

The determinants of competitiveness between hub ports in the multipolar Northeast Asian system will decide which achieve regional gateway status. A survey instrument to assess 21 pertinent measurement items generated 203 responses from Shanghai, Hong Kong and Busan. Exploratory factor analysis revealed a valid and reliable competitiveness construct underpinning 19 measurement scales and a four-factor model incorporating availability, operational efficiency, port costs and service quality. Differences in factor importance revealed that success as a regional gateway port depends on whether port areas develop strategically into multi-functional business centres. The model offers a management tool to guide future port improvement.

**Keywords:** Port competitiveness, regional gateway port, hub-and-spoke networks, multipolar port system, factor analysis, Northeast Asia.

Running Head: Competitiveness in a Multipolar Port System

#### I. Introduction

Intense regional port competition in Northeast Asia (NEA) has focused interest on the concept of port competitiveness (Yeo et al., 2008) and the determinants of competitiveness (Yeo *et al.*, 2011; Tongzon, 2009; Yeo *et al.*, 2008; Yeo and Song, 2006). This interest arises because shipping lines' perceptions of the competitiveness and attractiveness of commercial port operations determine the operational sustainability of ports (Yeo *et al.*, 2011; Cheon and Deakin, 2010).

Research on port competitiveness has typically focused on identifying key factors that influence competitiveness (Yeo *et al.*, 2011, 2008; Tongzon; 2009; de Langen, 2007; Murphy *et al.*, 1992, 1989), strategic development such as supply chain management, intermodal links, and hinterland development (van den Berg and de Langen, 2011; Wiegmans *et al.*, 2008; de Langen, 2007; Haezendonck and Notteboom, 2002) and regional container port competition (Yeo *et al.* 2011; Wang and Cheng, 2010; Yap *et al.*, 2006; Hsu and Hsieh 2005).

To date, prior work on port competitiveness has not identified definitively which factors influence the competitive position of ports striving for regional gateway status amongst hub ports. Research in NEA has highlighted issues which influence either port competitiveness or regional gateway status, but not both, overlooking differences in the nature of competition. This study proposes research to link these issues in NEA's multipolar port system (Figure 1) by investigating the determinants of competitiveness between hub ports vying for regional gateway status in NEA, using an empirically-based instrument. In the remainder of the paper, Section 2 reviews the competitive port environment in NEA and the generic determinants of port competitiveness and regional gateway status. Section 3 discusses the research design and data collection processes which, to enhance the external validity of findings, targeted contenders for regional gateway port status. Data analysis and results are presented in section 4 before considering their conceptual and substantive implications, and suggestions for future research.

#### **II.** Literature Review

#### 2.1 Competition between hub ports seeking regional gateway status in Northeast Asia

The major container ports in NEA have experienced an unprecedented boom in container shipping along with ever-intensified port competition (Yeo *et al.*, 2008; Wang and Cheng, 2010; Yap *et al.*, 2006). As a consequence of deployment of mega container ships, regional gateway port status comprises a significant

component of the local economy and economic cooperation with its surrounding areas (Imai *et al.*, 2013; Gelareh *et al.*, 2010; Low *et al.*, 2009), which integrates production and distribution systems (Yeo *et al.*, 2011; Hall, 2007). The major ports in NEA, therefore, aspire to achieve regional gateway status, to broaden their sphere of influence from that of a sea-shore interface to a comprehensive port which boosts global or major regional trade and the local economy (Wang and Cheng, 2010; Low *et al.*, 2009).

#### Figure 1 Port competition structure in Northeast Asia (Source: Author)

Figure 1 depicts competition between hub ports vying to become the central point for regional trade in the economy of NEA, holding regional gateway port status. In terms of their calling patterns in NEA in recent years, shipping lines typically concentrated sequentially on the main trunk route to transhipment ports in NEA: Hong-Kong, Kaohsiung, Busan, Yokohama, Tokyo and Seattle (Yap et al., 2006). At that time, transhipment cargo on mainline and feeder services was a crucial issue for the major ports seeking to revitalise their economy and to avoid underutilisation of port facilities (Midoro et al., 2005), creating competition between ports vying to become a regional gateway, focused on transhipment markets (Yeo et al., 2011; Wang and Cheng, 2010; Low et al., 2009). However, the deployment of mega container ships and the proliferation of direct calls by mother ships, has transformed calling patterns, creating new direct shipping networks. For example, reducing costs and enormous local container volumes induced direct calls to Chinese ports, the so-called 'China effect' (Yap et al., 2006). Hsu and Hsieh (2005) explained these phenomena in Northeast Asia using objective comparisons between hub-and-spoke and direct shipping, revealing that when cargo volumes increase with the growth of global trade, direct shipping has an advantage over container shipping involving transhipment by feedering. This arises because in a traditional hub-and-spoke system, inventory costs, waiting time and shipping time costs exceed shipping costs comprised of capital, operating and fuel costs and port charges (Stopford, 2009). In a direct call system the opposite attains (Hsu and Hsieh, 2005).

The changes in the calling patterns resulted in the emergence of a multipolar port system with conventional hub-and-spoke networks in NEA (Wang and Cheng, 2010). Haralambides (2011) pointed out that an emerging multipolar port system reflects global port development, growing intra-regional trade, amplification of inland transport and logistics infrastructure, and intensified competition in shipping markets. In such systems, the needs increase for a regional port-centric logistics hub to function as a regional transport hub and distribution centre for global and regional trade. Moreover, differing from other economic regions such as the EU and North America, the high dependence on intra-regional trade of this economic region was reported by

UNCTAD (2013). Due to growth of intra-industry trade in this region, intra-regional trade has increased from 23.6 % in 2002 to 32.8 % in 2009 recording approximately 44,050,000 TEU, indicating high dependence on intra-regional trade in seaborne trade, compared to other regions including Europe (5.2%) and North America (1.0%). These phenomena highlighted requirements to develop ports into multi-functional business centres as a central point for global and regional trade and the local economy (Wang and Cheng 2010; Low *et al.*, 2009), and stimulated more sophisticated port competition featuring new types of regional port competition between hub ports vying for regional gateway status in NEA (Figure 1). This paper aims to clarify constructs which determine the competitiveness of hub ports seeking regional gateway status to function as the central point in a regional economy. Prior research highlighted Shanghai, Hong Kong and Busan as the main contenders for regional gateway port status in the multipolar port system in NEA (Low et al., 2009). In the next section, some determinants of port competitiveness are reviewed.

#### 2.2 Determinants of competitiveness required to become a regional gateway port

Port competition relating to multiple-hub ports evolved from conventional hub-and-spoke systems, but also implies a more sophisticated competition structure involved in striving to become a central point in global or regional trade. Reviews span the determinants of port competitiveness as a regional gateway, prior studies on general port competitiveness to become a hub, and also to achieve regional gateway status.

#### 2.2.1 Port competitiveness

Prior literature offers useful insights into port competitiveness in different contexts and how key factors which determine port competitiveness have changed over time. In early work to identify key factors which determine port competitiveness, physical attributes including port facilities, port rates and charges, and port location were the basic factors in port selection and competitiveness (e.g. Murphy *et al.* 1989). Literature from the 1990s (e.g. Tongzon, 1994; Murphy *et al.*, 1992) reveals a gradual change in the relative weights of the determinants of port choice, and featured more evaluation criteria such as work practices within a port, traffic volume, productivity and terminal efficiency. Besides, port productivity played an important role in enhancing port performance and port competitiveness. Since 2000, with the growth of international trade and liberalisation of transport markets, the scale and the scope of a port have prominently increased. Pre-2000, academic work favoured a resource-based view to evaluate port competitiveness, based on port physical attributes such as facilities and location, whereas, after 2000, literature on port competitiveness placed great emphasis on activity-based and demand-based views for analysing port competitiveness (van den Berg and de Langen, 2011; Cho *et* 

*al.*, 2010; Tongzon, 2009; Yeo *et al.*, 2008; de Langen, 2007; Hall 2007; Notteboom and Rodrigue, 2005; Yeo and Song, 2006). At this stage, business stability and sustainability became important issues indicating how well the industry was adapting to an ever-changing environment. Furthermore, with the growing scale of ports, the role of port hinterland has transformed into a strategic base from which logistics activities perform various services, and become a critical component to link elements of the supply chain more effectively (Notteboom and Rodrigue, 2005). With the change of port environments, service quality and hinterland condition, landside accessibility, strategic differentiation, port (terminal) operational efficiency level, reliability, cargo handling charges, and port selection preference of carriers and shippers have become the major factors that influence port competitiveness (Ahn *et al.*, 2014; Yeo *et al.*, 2011, 2008; Yeo, 2010; Li and Oh, 2010; Cho *et al.*, 2010; Tongzon, 2009; Notteboom and Rodrigue, 2008). Reviews indicate that attention has shifted to considering how to create and sustain port competitiveness whilst accommodating customers' expectations.

#### 2.2.2 Port operations required to become a regional gateway

A regional gateway port in a hub-and-spoke network is considered as a significant component of the local economy and economic cooperation with its surrounding areas can integrate the overall production and distribution systems (Low *et al.*, 2009; Hall, 2007). In order to become a regional gateway port, ports in NEA aspire to broaden their sphere of influence from a sea-shore interface to a comprehensive port which boosts global or major regional trade and the local economy (Wang and Cheng 2010). Just as the economies of scale of mega-container ship operations are influenced by technical and economic feasibility, so critical issues on regional gateway port operations are closely connected with: physical capacities including water depth, berths and approach channels (Sys *et al.*, 2008); economic conditions such as sustainable cargo creation based on the local economy (Ishii *et al.*, 2013; Notteboom and Rodrigue, 2008) and attractiveness to shipping lines in mainline and feeder markets (Yeo *et al.*, 2011).

As revealed by Low *et al.* (2009), scale economies and port efficiency is the most important dimension in determining a port's success as a regional gateway port in NEA. Prior studies on mega port operations aimed to identify economies of scale in port operations from both a concentration of container traffic and port efficiency. In terms of port location, geographic location plays a significant role in determining a regional gateway port. The ports located on the main trunk route have a priority in terms of intermediacy which affects connectivity. Moreover, a regional gateway port must have a centricity determined by economic size such as a market niche and hinterland conditions (van den Berg and de Langen, 2011; Wang and Cheng, 2010), because Chinese ports occupied a high position in world port rankings. Superior centricity and intermediacy lead to more calls at the port and benefits for intermodal transport, utilisation of service facilities related to port and cargo consolidation and related services which benefit from economies of scale.

Regarding port operations, any delay at the port or the terminal has negative economic and financial implications (Imai *et al.*, 2013). Efficient port operation is one important factor for accommodating megacontainer ships. For example, efficient and speedy handling at the terminal directly influences the transit time and operational costs of mega ships (Stopford, 2009). Therefore, economies of scale for mega-container ships are highly dependent on terminal efficiency. Then again, Imai *et al.* (2013) indicated that handling efficiency of mega ships is evaluated by handling time while other ships' efficiency is determined by handling time plus waiting time (service time). They argued that an efficient ship handling service in a port is particularly important to avoid the complexities of berthing small ships in terms of total service time because a mega ship has a priority at the berth.

With respect to the roles and responsibility of a regional gateway port, with enlargement of the scale and scope of a port, a regional gateway port contributes to global or major regional trade and the local economy. Therefore, a regional gateway port, as an economic catalyst to revenue and employment (Ducruet and Lugo, 2013; Wang and Cheng, 2010) and with a central position serving industries related to international trade (Notteboom and Rodrigue, 2008), is required to perform as a multifunctional business centre which can produce added-value and growth in its host city (Wang and Cheng, 2010). As a result, in order to be a regional gateway, the major ports in NEA need to promote a balance between valuable land, labour and technology, as well as to ensure harmony between growth and the environment (Hall, 2007), as economic stability and social responsibility shed a new light on port operations literature (Dinwoodie *et al.*, 2012; Cheon and Deakin, 2010).

#### 2.2.3 Determinants of port competitiveness required to become a regional gateway

Literature reviews identified that port competitiveness is determined by considering diverse factors including port availability, economic size, efficiency, productivity, cost factors (e.g. total transport costs per container and inland logistics costs), soft factors such as reliability, service differentiation, and professional and workforce development, and supportive factors including market niche, incentives and IT application (Imai *et al.*, 2013; Yeo *et al.*, 2011, 2008, Wang and Cheng, 2010; Tongzon, 2009; Notteboom and Rodrigue, 2008; Yap *et al.*, 2006). As suggested by Yeo *et al.* (2008), after eliminating overlapping and interrelated elements, this study carefully selected components of port competitiveness. Finally, twenty one measurement items were extracted (Table 1).

#### Table 1 Selected components of port competitiveness (Source: Author)

#### **III. Research Method**

#### 3.1 Overview of research design

This paper aims to investigate the structure of port competitiveness analysing multi-measurement items, based on hub ports striving to be a regional gateway in new hub-and-spoke networks in NEA. A questionnaire survey examined 21 multi-measurement items in container port operations derived from the available literature using items, each anchored by five-point Likert scales (1– strongly disagree to 5– strongly agree). Exploratory factor analysis (EFA) using SPSS 21 was deployed to identify the sub-dimensions of port competitiveness and eliminate potentially superfluous items and based on the results, target ports were compared. To enhance the external validity of findings, after translating the questionnaire into three different versions (Chinese including Mandarin and Cantonese, Korean) questionnaires were distributed to the major container ports in NEA: Shanghai (1st), Hong Kong (3rd) and Busan (5th), each vying for regional gateway status (Low *et al.*, 2009).

#### 3.2 Data collection

Prior to collecting data in 2013 a pilot survey was conducted by email. Thirty respondents included a group of researchers and experts who were selected as practitioners working in a container port. Based on pretests, a revised questionnaire was compiled. In total 2000 questionnaires were distributed to port stakeholders in the container ports of Shanghai, Hong-Kong and Busan; 104 were returned as non-deliverable. Two weeks after an initial mailing a cover letter was despatched along with reminder emails to all potential respondents, ahead of a final email, two weeks later. The final response of 203 gave an effective response rate of 10.7% (203/1896). Table 2 presents the general characteristics of the sample collected which is representative of all stakeholder groups. Seven types of organisation are represented in a diverse range of organisational sizes. Almost half of the organisation for over 10 years. Most respondents (82.8%) were in senior and middle groups entitled vice president or above, board member, director, manager of department, section chief, operational supervisor, although more junior levels representing operational staff were also represented.

#### **Table 2 Sample demographics**

#### 3.3 Assessing non-response bias and common method bias

To assess non-response bias widely accepted extrapolation methods were used whereby late

respondents are hypothesized to behave similarly to non-respondents. Comparison between the central tendency of the responses of the first and fourth quartiles of respondents revealed no significant difference at the 0.05 level on t-tests for key factors (Wanger and Kemmerling, 2010). In addition, to assess common method bias at the level of measurement item, Harman's single factor test in SPSS (Podsakoff *et al.*, 2003) revealed that no single factor accounted for the majority of the covariance in EFA. Based on these results, non-response bias and common method bias is not expected to inhibit analysis (Wanger and Kemmerling, 2010; Podsakoff *et al.*, 2003).

#### **IV. Data Analysis and Results**

#### 4.1 Results of factor analysis

EFA using SPSS 21 determines how clearly and to what extent an observed variable links to the underlying factors, and eliminates potentially superfluous items. To extract the minimum number of factors which account for co-variation amongst observed variables, principle components analysis with Varimax rotation was adopted because it assumes independence between factors and maximises the sum of the variances of squared loadings. The criteria used for selecting measurement items were eigen-value (>1.0) and factor loading (>0.50) (Hair *et al.*, 2010). Twenty one items for competitiveness were assessed and EFA grouped the scale of items of competitiveness into four dimensions (Table 3). Each measurement item recorded factor loadings >0.50, but two items (COM 14, cargo handling charges and COM 21, service differentiation) were eliminated due to low communality <0.50 (Hair *et al.*, 2010), to enhance the reliability and validity of items. Factor loadings for the 19 purified items between 0.682 and 0.825, and communality values >0.50, exceeded acceptable standards (Hair *et al.*, 2010) implying that factor analysis is reliable with variables well represented by the extracted factors. A Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin's measure of sampling adequacy (85.7%) indicates that observed variables link closely to their underlying facts. The four competitiveness factors extracted explain 64.5% of the inherent variation in their items. Finally Cronbach's  $\alpha$  >0.70 for all extracted factors indicates constructs which are internally consistent and valid (Hair *et al.*, 2010).

#### Table 3 Results of exploratory factor analysis (Source: Author)

Based on EFA 19 measurement items incorporating hard, soft and supportive factors were grouped into four sub-dimensions. Taking into account prior work (Tongzon, 2009; Yeo *et al.*, 2008), the determinants of port competitiveness required to become a regional gateway in NEA were developed (see Figure 2), using labels

of 'availability', 'operational efficiency', 'port costs', and 'service quality'.

*Availability:* a regional gateway port is considered a significant component of the local economy and economic cooperation with its surrounding areas (Imai *et al.*, 2013). Port availability as an international logistics hub incorporates physical and functional availability such as port facilities, hinterland development and economic size (Yeo *et al.*, 2011, 2008; Low *et al.*, 2009; Tongzon, 2009). Therefore, a regional gateway port must have competitive capacities not only to accommodate mega-container ships, but also to perform expanded port functions as a comprehensive logistics centre which boosts global or major regional trade and the local economy, which strengthens hub status (Ducruet and Lugo, 2013; Gelareh *et al.*, 2010; Wang and Cheng, 2010). The components of port availability include local cargo volume (PA1), port infrastructure and facilities utilisation (PA2), market niche (PA3), preference of shipping liners (PA4), and port physical capacity (PA5).

*Operational efficiency:* Operational efficiency in port operations is required to be a logistics hub (Low *et al.*, 2009). A higher level of efficiency attracts more port users as the importance of faster turnaround time within the port is critical for hub port operations in NEA (Imai *et al.*, 2013; Yeo *et al*, 2011, 2008). Besides, the efficiency of inland transport and hinterland connection has become critical in a port's potential future competitiveness (Notteboom and Rodrigue, 2008). The world's mega container ports (i.e. Shanghai, Hong Kong, and Busan) already view this as a key factor to support their long-term vision (Yeo and Song, 2006). The elements for operational efficiency include terminal productivity (OE1), hinterland development (OE2), simplification of procedures (OE3), cargo handling speed (OE4), and supply chain cooperation (OE5).

*Port costs:* Lower port charges whilst holding other factors constant lead to a more competitive position (Ishii, 2013; Yeo *et al.*, 2011; Tongzon, 2009; Murphy *et al.*, 1989; Slack, 1985). Lower costs achieve a higher level of port competitiveness (Yeo *et al.*, 2011). Commonly, port costs including transport costs per container (PC1), port charges (PC3), and port service costs (PC4) are a significant factor for evaluating port competitiveness. Further, trans-shipment cost (PC2) is a critical element of the cost factor in managing mega port competitiveness because mega-container ships imply transhipment markets with a feeder-and-hub relationship (Imai *et al.*, 2013).

*Service quality:* Ports must meet port users' needs or expectations. Service quality presents the overall quality of service provided to users in a port area (Tongzon, 1994), and good service quality increases the reputation of the port and reliability of its services, thereby strengthening a port's competitiveness (Yeo *et al.*, 2011; Cho *et al.*, 2010). Further, port service quality positively affects customer satisfaction, loyalty, and referral intentions (Cho *et al.*, 2010). Reliability of service performance (SQ1), shipment safety and security (SQ2), application of IT and EDI in operations (SQ3), quick response to port user's needs (SQ4) and low congestion in a port (SQ5) are categorised into the construct of service quality in managing port competitiveness as a regional gateway.

#### Figure 2 Structure of port competitiveness among hub ports (Source: Author)

#### 4.2 Comparison among the target ports

The significance of the relative importance of each dimension is presented in relation to the overall competitiveness of target ports, based on the results of EFA in a two-step process. Firstly, to reflect the relative importance of sub-dimensions, the value of variance explained (%) was employed to assess the average absolute value of each factor  $(x_i)$  (formula 1).

1st step: 
$$x_i = \frac{\% \text{ of Variance}}{T \text{ otal varience explained}} * m (Mean values of each dimension) ------ (Formula 1)$$

Thereafter, to calculate the overall competitiveness of each port, these were summed over all ports. The set of average absolute values was used to evaluate overall competitiveness (see Formula 2). Table 4 presents the results of the evaluation of competitiveness amongst the target ports.

2<sup>nd</sup> step: 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} x = x_1 + x_2 \dots + x_n = 0$$
 verall port competitiveness ------ (Formula 2)

Comparisons of the mean value of each dimension show that Shanghai has the highest value in availability (4.3), followed by efficiency (3.5), costs (3.5), and service quality (2.7). Hong Kong shows the highest value in efficiency (4.1) and service quality (4.2). In addition, Busan shows comparatively well distributed values in all dimensions (Model 1). Firstly we calculated overall competitiveness without considering the relative importance of each dimension. The results showed that Shanghai takes first place

followed consecutively by Busan (2<sup>nd</sup>) and Hong Kong (3<sup>rd</sup>). However, by considering the relative importance of each dimension, the ranking in comparison was different between Busan and Hong Kong (Model 2). Results indicate that the ranking of competitiveness with multiple-determinants can reflect the relative importance of each dimension.

#### Table 4 Comparison amongst the target ports (Source: Author)

#### V. Implications and Conclusions

This paper proposed a new model of port competitiveness and evaluated hub ports seeking to achieve regional gateway status in NEA. Findings have both conceptual and substantive implications, because the critical factors identified differ from other studies (i.e. Tongzon, 2009; Yeo *et al.*, 2008) and offer new knowledge about port competitiveness in a multipolar port system.

#### **5.1 Implications**

Conceptually, the four factor model advances understanding of the structure of port competitiveness relating to competition between hub ports. Although the determinants of port competitiveness are familiar (Imai *et al.*, 2013; Tongzon, 2009; Yeo *et al.*, 2008), the four factor model invites future testing in the context of competition between hub ports striving for regional gateway status, and differences in the relative importance of factors which influence port competitiveness and improvement strategies. For example, physical and functional aspects of port availability explained more model variance than operational aspects such as operational efficiency, port costs and service quality, implying that enhancement of a port's competitive position as a regional gateway depends most importantly on port availability. A focus on ports which are strong contenders for achieving regional gateway status in NEA enhances the external validity of findings, and could assist understanding of ports competing for regional gateway status in sophisticated hub-and-spoke networks worldwide. Moreover, because the determinants presented were assessed by various practitioners, empirical findings that port competitiveness for example depends on factors including hard, soft and supportive factors (Table 1) spanning port availability, operational efficiency, port costs, and service quality will assist future studies. As the first study of hub ports competing for regional gateway status in a multipolar port system, this work will also guide strategic management in relevant contexts.

New knowledge is offered for port operators seeking to develop strategies to achieve regional gateway status (i.e. Tongzon, 2009; Yeo *et al.*, 2008). Findings that physical and functional aspects of port availability

significantly determine port competitiveness as a regional gateway imply future strategic development of the port area into a multi-functional business centre, by securing appropriate physical capacities to be a central point for regional trade; intermediacy and connectivity to the import and export areas, market, and host city; diversification of infrastructure in and around the port area; and centricity based on local cargo volumes and an attractive business environment in and around a port which improves a port's functional availability to invite shipping lines and industry. By not restricting port activities to cargo handling or related services, ports can maintain stable and flexible functions. Services and facilities to improve a port's availability as a central position for industries related to international trade might include a convention centre, financial complex or arbitration centre (Notteboom and Rodrigue, 2008). Superior functional availability as a central point of international shipping and trade can enhance port competitiveness, particularly where intra-regional trade is high. To improve port competitiveness as a regional gateway, strategies for future port development must supplement roles as a comprehensive logistics hub with plans to offer an attractive business environment for shipping lines and related industries.

#### 5.2 Limitations and suggestions for future research

Because of resource limitations the list of determinants of port competitiveness investigated here is not exhaustive, and other variables such as corporate strategy invite further work. In an operational context, strategies for operations and development may influence future port competitiveness. Given the emphasis in strategic operations and operations management on developing a firm's competence in understanding customer needs and how to satisfy them (Ling, 2000), research might investigate additional factors to accommodate customers' expectations and strategic issues including opportunities for sustainable growth. Further studies are required to empirically verify the unique port competitive situation in NEA, to test the structure of the model of competitiveness presented here, and to test findings using surveys of port competition in other regions. Further interesting work might consider the performance of port operations, and impacts of the determinants of port competitiveness which underpin operational management.

#### **VI. References**

AHN, W., LEE, C. and HAN, J. (2014) "A study on the securement of the competitiveness of Gyeong-In Port", Asian Journal of Shipping and Logistics, Vol. 30, No. 2, pp. 243-264.

CHEON, S. H. and DWAKIN, E. (2010) "Supply chain coordination for port sustainability", Journal of Transport Research Board, Vol. 2166, No. 2, pp. 10-19.

CHO, C. C., KIM, B. I. and HYUN, J. H. (2010) "A comparative analysis of the ports of Incheon and Shanghai: The cognitive service quality of ports, customer satisfaction, and post-behaviour", Total Quality Management and Business Excellence, Vol. 21, No. 9, pp. 919 -930.

DE LANGEN, P. W. (2007) "Port competition and selection in contestable hinterlands: the case of Austria", European Journal of Transport and Infrastructure Research, Vol. 7, No.13, pp. 1-14.

DINWOODIE, J., TUCK, S., KNOWLES, H., BENHIN, J. and SANSOM, M. (2012) "Sustainable development of maritime operations in ports", Business Strategy and the Environment, Vol. 21, No. 2, pp. 111–126.

DUCRUET C. and LUGO I. (2013) "Cities and transport networks in shipping and logistics research", Asian Journal of Shipping and Logistics, Vol. 29, No. 2, pp. 149-170.

GELAREH, S., NICKEL, S., and PISINGER, D. (2010) "Liner shipping hub network design in a competitive environment", Transportation Research Part E, Vol. 46, No. 6, pp. 991-1004.

HAIR, J. F., BLACK, W. C., BABIN, B. J., and ANDERSON, R. E. (2010) Multivariate Data Analysis (7<sup>th</sup> edition). New Jersey: Prentice Hall.

HALL, P. V. (2007) "Seaports, urban sustainability, and paradigm shift", Journal of Urban Technology, Vol. 14, No. 2, pp. 87-101.

HARALAMBIDES, H. E., VELDMAN, S., VAN DRUNEN, E. and LIU, M. (2011) "Determinants of a

regional port-centric logistics hub: The case of East Africa", Maritime Economics and Logistics, Vol. 13, No.1, pp. 78-97.

HSU, C. I. and HSIEH, Y. P. (2005) "Direct verses terminal routing on a maritime hub and spoke container network", Journal of Marine Science and Technology, Vol. 13, No. 3, pp. 209-217.

IMAI, A., NISHIMURA, E. and PAPADIMITRIOU, S. (2013) "Marine container terminal configurations for efficient handling of mega-containerships", Transport Research Part E, Vol. 49, No. 1, pp. 141-158.

ISHII, M., LEE, P. T. W., TEZUKA, K. and CHANG, Y. T. (2013) "A game theoretical analysis of port competition", Transportation Research Part E, Vol. 49, No. 1, pp. 92-106.

LI, J, and OH, Y. (2010) "A research on competition and cooperation between Shanghai Port and Ningbo-Zhoushan port", Asian Journal of Shipping and Logistics, Vol. 26, No. 1, pp. 67-92.

LING, X. L. (2000) "An analysis of sources of competitiveness and performance of Chinese manufacturers", International Journal of Operation and Production Management, Vol. 20, No. 3, pp. 299-315.

LOW, J. M. W., LAM, S. W and TANG, L. C. (2009) "Assessment of hub status among Asian ports from a network perspective", Transportation Research Part A, Vol. 43, No. 6, pp. 593-606.

MURPHY, P. R., DALENBERG, D. R. and DALEY, J. M. (1989) "Assessing international port operation", International Journal of Physical Distribution and Materials Management, Vol. 19, No. 3, pp. 3-10.

MURPHY, P. R., DALEY, J. M. and DALENBERG, D. R. (1992) "Port selection criteria: an application of a transportation research framework", Logistics and Transportation Review, Vol. 28, No. 3, pp. 237-255.

NOTTEBOOM, T. and RODRIGUE, J.P. (2005) "Port regionalization: towards a new phase in port development", Maritime Policy and Management, Vol. 32, No. 3, pp. 297–313.

NOTTEBOOM, T. and RODRIGUE, J.P. (2008) "The future of containerization: perspectives from maritime and inland freight distribution", Geo Journal, Vol. 74, No. 1, pp. 7-22.

PODSAKOFF, P. M., MACKENZIE,S. B., Lee, J. Y., and PODSAKOFF, N. P. (2003) "Common method Biases in behavioral research: A critical review of the literature and recommended remedies", Journal of Applied Psychology, Vol. 88, No. 5, pp. 879-903.

STOPFORD, M. (2009) Maritime Economics (3rd edition), New York: Routledge, Oxon.

SYS, C., BLAUWENS, G., OMEY, E., VAN DE VOORDE, E. and WITLOX, F. (2008) "In search of the link between ship size and operations", Transportation Planning and Technology, Vol. 31, No. 4, pp. 435-463.

TONGZON, J. (1994) "Determinants of port performance and efficiency", Transportation Research A, Vol. 29, No. 3, pp. 245- 252.

TONGZON, J. (2009) "Port choice and freight forwards", Transportation Research Part E, Vol. 45, No. 1, pp. 186-195.

UNCTAD (2013) Review of Maritime Transport. <u>http://unctad.org/en/pages/PublicationWebflyer.aspx?publicationid=753</u>, accessed 9 August 2013.

VAN DEN BERG, R. and DE LANGEN, P. W. (2011) "Hinterland strategies of port authorities: a case study of the port of Barcelona", Research in Transport Economics, Vol. 33, No. 1, pp. 6-14.

WAGNER, S. M. and KEMMERLING, R. (2010) "Handling non-response in logistics research", Journal of Business Logistics, Vol. 31, No. 2, pp. 357- 382.

WANG, J. J. and CHENG, M. C. (2010) "From a hub port city to a global supply chain management centre: a

case study of Hong Kong", Journal of Transport Geography, Vol. 18, No. 1, pp. 104–115.

WIEGMANS, B., VAN DER HOEST, A. and NOTTEBOOM, T. (2008) "Port and terminal selection by deepsea container operators", Maritime Policy and Management, Vol. 35, No. 6, 517-534.

YAP, W.Y., LAM, J.S.L. and NOTTEBOOM, T. (2006) "Developments in container port competition in East Asia", Transport Reviews, Vol. 26, No. 2, pp. 167-188.

YEO, G. T. and SONG, D. W. (2006) "An application of the Hierarchical Fuzzy Process to container port competition: Policy and Strategic Implication", Transportation, Vol. 33, No. 4, pp. 409- 422.

YEO, G. T., ROE, M. and DINWOODIE, J. (2008) "Evaluating the competitiveness of container ports in Korea and China", Transportation Research Part A, Vol. 42, No. 6, pp. 910- 921.

YEO, G. T., ROE, M. and DINWOODIE, J. (2011) "Measuring the competitiveness of container ports: Logistician's perspectives", European Journal of Marketing, Vol. 45, No. 3, pp. 455- 470.

YEO, H. (2010) "Competitiveness of Asian container terminals", Asian Journal of Shipping and Logistics, Vol.26, No. 2, pp. 225-246.

## Supplementary Data

Code*	Elements	Reference
COM1	Local cargo volume	Imai et al., 2013; Yeo et al., 2011, 2008; Notteboom and
	(economic size)	Rodrigue, 2008
COM2	Port facilities utilisation (business	Yeo et al., 2011, 2008; Tongzon, 2009; De Langen,
	infrastructure)	2007;
COM3	Proximity (to the import/export area,	Ducruet and Lugo, 2013; Van den Berg and de Langen,
	market and host city)	2011; de Langen, 2007
COM4	Preference of shipping liners and the	Ducruet and Lugo, 2013; Yeo et al., 2008; Low et al.,
	relevant industries	2009
COM5	Port physical capacity	Yeo <i>et al.</i> , 2011, 2008; De Langen, 2007; Murphy <i>et al.</i> , 1992, 1989
COM6	Hinterland development	Van den Berg and de Langen, 2011; Yeo <i>et al.</i> , 2008; de
001/7		Langen, 2007
COM/	Terminal productivity	Tongzon, 2009; Low <i>et al.</i> , 2009
COM8	Cargo handling speed	Imai et al., 2013; Yeo et al., 2008; Stopord, 2009
COM9	Supply chain cooperation	Cheon and Deakin, 2010; Low et al., 2009
COM10	Simplification of procedure	Tongzon, 2009
COM11	Total transport costs per container	Ishii, 2013; Tongzon, 2009; Yeo et al., 2008
COM12	Trans-shipment costs	Imai et al., 2013
COM13	Port charges	Ishii, 2013; Tongzon, 2009; Murphy et al., 1989
COM14	Cargo handling charges	Yeo et al., 2011, 2008; Murphy et al., 1992, 1989
COM15	Port service costs	Yeo et al., 2011, 2008; Tongzon, 2009; Murphy et al.,
		1992
COM16	Reliability of service performance	Cho et al., 2010; Tongzon, 2009
COM17	Safety and security	Hall, 2007; Cho et al., 2010
COM18	Application of IT	Yeo et al., 2011, 2008
COM19	Quick response to port user's needs	Tongzon, 2009; Cho et al., 2010
COM20	Low congestion in a port	Imai et al., 2013; Yeo et al., 2008
COM21	Service differentiation	Tongzon, 2009; Cho et al., 2010

### Table 1 Selected components of port competitiveness

Source: Tabulated by Author \*COM: competitiveness

## Table 2 Sample demographics

Variable	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Organisation Type		
Port Authority	36	17.8
Terminal Operator	48	23.6
Shipping line	23	11.3
Inland Shipper	27	13.3
Forwarder/Cargo Owner	26	12.8
National/Local Government	26	12.8
Local Community/Researcher	17	8.4
Firm's Age		
Less than 5 years	9	4.4
5-10	46	22.7
11-20	51	25.1
Over 20 years	97	47.8
Number of Employees		
Less than 50	46	22.6
50-100	28	13.8
101-200	30	14.8
201-300	49	24.2
More than 300	50	24.6
Working Experience		
Less than 5 Years	16	7.8
5-10	18	8.9
11-20	124	61.0
Over 20	45	22.3
Job Position		
Senior	106	52.3
Middle	62	30.5
Junior	35	17.2

(Source: author)

<b>T</b> 4	Factor Analysis						
Items*	PA	OE	РС	SQ	Cronbach's α		
COM1	.815						
COM2	.809						
COM3	.800				.861		
COM4	.726						
COM5	.710						
COM6		.825					
COM7		.815					
COM8		.812			.854		
COM9		.724					
<b>COM10</b>		.699					
COM11			.797				
COM12			.785				
COM13			.742		.785		
<b>COM14</b>			.690				
<b>COM15</b>				.794			
COM16				.791			
<b>COM17</b>				.777	.862		
<b>COM18</b>				.746			
<b>COM19</b>				.682			
<b>Eigen-value</b>	6.073	2.402	2.207	1.705			
% of Variance	31.962	12.641	10.904	8.971	Total: 64.478		

Table 3 Results of exploratory factor analysis (Source: Author)

Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy: 0.857

\* COM: competitiveness; PA: port availability; OE: operational efficiency; PC: port costs; SQ: service quality.

	Model 1*			Model 2**			
-	Shanghai	Hong Kong	Busan	Shanghai	Hong Kong	Busan	
Availability	4.3	3.5	3.1	2.132	1.586	1.487	
Operational efficiency	3.5	4.1	3.6	0.686	0.804	0.706	
Port costs	3.5	1.8	3.1	0.592	0.304	0.524	
Service quality	2.7	4.2	3.6	0.376	0.584	0.501	
Overall competitiveness	3.50(1)	3.325(3)	3.350(2)	3.785 (1)	3.279 (2)	3.218 (3)	

Table 4	Comparison	amongst	the target	ports	(Source:	Author)
	Companison.		Ber	Porto	(	

\*: The mean value of each dimension;

\*\*: The average absolute value of each dimension reflecting the relative importance; and () = ranking.





#### Figure 2

#### Component

#### **Sub-dimension**

